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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

The El Dorado Junior College building is a three story brick and frame building 
in a modified Greek Cross or Swastika plan (see figure 1). The east or main entry 
facade and the west or rear entry facade ar~ divided into three unequal bays giving 
the appearance of a central pavillion and wings. The central bay and the recessed bay 
are of equal width; and the other is slightly narrower. All the bays are symmetrically 
fenestrated. The narrower bay has two closely spaced windows per floor, while the 
recessed bay is fenestrated by two widely spaced windows per floor. The central bay 
has four closely spaced windows on the second and third floors. The same bay sub­
division theme is carried out on the ground floor by the frontispiece entry portico 
flanked by two windows. All windows are 4/4 double-hung, wood, sash windows with 

· white painted concrete lintels and sills. 

The central bay is surmounted on both facades by a g~bled roof with deeply re­
cessed pediment centered on the bay. The pediment is symmetrically divided by three 
louvered attic vent windows. The central window being larger and wider than the twin 
flanking windows. The gabled roof is formed by a returned cornice capping mock 
pilasters resting ·on brick corbeling from the facade below the main roof cornice line. 

The northern and southern facades are divided into two unequal bays, each sym­
metrically fenestrated with three windows per floor. The southwest ~nd northwest bays 
are slightly smaller in width and end in a gable roof with deeply recessed pediment 
and returned cornices. At the base of the north and south facades, two stairs sink 
to the basement entry door . 

. r .. ~·. : . . -:n · ;·;:· ~ · .. --. .. : -· .1.': -> .... 

The main entry facade bay divisions are emphasized by brick corner pilasters. 
These pi·lasrt~:r:;s:· st:~p ... down -in w-iPth:- flnd 4epth." .;lt ._ ~.ach- .. flo.Qr l level~ ... . 'rhe . cha.,-'1.g~ is marked 
by a white-painted concrete stringer course similar to romanesque revival buttressing. 
The, pila-sters ·on - the .. third floor divide ·into two smaller brick pi~st~r.s crossed by 
horizontal brick bands recalling the lower pilaster's dimensions. The pilasters merge 
into the .rooD .cornice through a mock entablature with the upper.~or~i~e of enriched 
ovolo moulding tying into the roof soffit by volute and acanthus leaf patterned 
modillions. 

The facade is faced with finish brick in stretcher or American bond down to just 
below the first floor. There a white-painted concrete veneer is molded to resemble a 
beveled water table capping a regular smooth stonework foundation. Basement ventilation 
window formed by segmented arches molded into the concrete veneer are covered with 
stamped iron plates. 

The roof form of shingles (originally slate) is hipped with the previously men­
tioned north and south gables tying into the hipped roof's northeast and southwest 
shoulder ridges. The east an'd west gables die .into the roof expanses. (see figure 2). 
Two interior chimneys served basement boilers. The northern chimney runs east and west; 
and the southern chimney runs north and south. Two fire escapes dascend from the third 
floor on the north and south facades. 
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The frontispiece entry porticos on the east and west facade$ are formed by paired 
white-painted Roman doric concrete columns on rectangular pediments which rise to the 
first floor window sill level. The paired columns are surmounted by an entablature 
with a cantilevered cornice and a blank frieze bounded by dentil moulding on top and 
egg and dart moulding below. The frieze rests on square capital plates. Above this 
cornice, a balcony is formed by two rectangular, recessed, paneled pedestals. In 
filling between the two, there are alternating turned balusters and narrower rectangular 
recessed paneled pedestals. The balcony rail is formed by a cornice undulating around 
the pedestals and over the balusters. The doors are double-paneled and windowed. The 
doors are crowned by a seven-paved rectangular transom. The lintel and sill are of 
white-painted concrete. 

The interior plan is a central hall running east and west terminating at the 
entries. There are two rooms to the north and two to the south. On either end of the 

"ll's south side rise single flight, closed string stairs with plain balusters and 
.c rpenter doric newells. The rooms have direct entry from the center. of the hall; and 

:;he northern rooms have a direct entry near the building entries. The southern rooms 
are separated from the hall by long narrow bath rooms and storage rooms. These 
originally were cloakrooms to allow direct entry from the center of the hall to the 
classroom or indirect entry to the rear of the classroom through the cloakrooms. 
(see figure 1). 

The prototypical neo-classical revival brick public building is still sound and 
only slightly modified from its original form. 

I 

.I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 
1 · 
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PERIOD AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE -- CHECK AND JUSTIFY BELOW 

_PREH ISTORIC 

_ 1400-1499 

_1500-1599 

_ 1600- 1699 

_ 1 700-179 9 

_ 1800 -189 9 

X1900-

__ARCHEOLOGY-PREHISTORIC 

__ARCHEOLOGY-HISTORIC 

__AGRICULTURE 

;x_A.RCHITECTU RE 

_ART 
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_EXPLORATION/ SETTLEMENT 
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_LITERATURE 
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The El Dorado Junior College building is situated on a site which has been used 
for public education since 1858. The building housed the first junior college in 
southwest Arkansas. Finally, the building itself is a fine prototype of the neo­
classical revival brick public buildings of the 1900-1920 period. 

'l'he El Dorado Junior College building is located on lot 98 (The "Academy" lot) of 
Newton subdivision in El Dorado, Arkansas. The original U. S. patent for the southeast 
quarter of Section 29, township 17 south, range 15 west, 160 acres, was entered August 4, 
1845. The property was sold to Albe rt Rust, on January 5, 1852 for $3,000 and a $520.83 
mortgage on a slave girl, Alcey, Age 17. On May 7, 1858, Rust sold 5 acres to the 
Trustee s of the El Dorado Female Institute for $250. The land was stipulated to be used 
for a Female Academy. The Trustees were Robert Goodwin, Hezekiah Bussy, Argrave Ammons, 
Hamilton P. Smead, Hugh P. Marr, William R. Clowser, and James W. Adams. The Female 
Ins titute of El Dorado was started by Reverend Lacy, a local Presbyterian Ministe r, and 
his wife , who was the first instructor. The earliest recorded trustees were William Rust, 
John A. Cornish, John R. Hampton, William H. He i.nes, and Robe.rt M. Hardy. Reverend Lacy 
was succeeded in his posts as a theologian and educator by Rev_erend A. R. Bank, who with 
his wife haC<l been running academics ' .for - rrt;:!.les · and.·. :Cer:mLc·s .in Mi.ndan ~· Loais~_ana .. .. During 
the Civil War, the structure of the Female Institute , a two story, eight room, frame 
structure with a · lon9 . ::issembly hall in the rear of the building, was - used-. as · a hospital 
for Confederate soldiers and a monument raised on the easte-rn boundary by the Daughters 
of the Confederacy • . --.on October 12, the El Dorado Special School Distric .. :: : >HS was • 
formed from Common School District #13. 

In 1895, th ~.rinth, tenth, eleventh, and twelth grades were added to the public 
school system. ~ii:- the same year, the Chancery Court by degree, deeded the property 
to the El Dorado - ~ecial School District #15, who had been operating the public 
school s on the property for twenty years. In June of 1896, the first class graduated 
from high school. The growing number of students required more and better education 
facili t ies. As early as June 20, 1903, a committee, chaired by B. W. Reeves, wa s , . 
set up by the School Board to ... "cooperate with Dr. Morgan Smith to ascertain plans 
and specific~tions for a brick school building_" By February 11, 1904, this had 
grown into a committee on " •.. How and when to build a brick school," composed of 
B. 1-J . Reeve s, W. H. Matthews, and D. E. Armstrong. The mortgage proposition was 
submitted in March; and in May, Dr. J. M. Sheppard and Hugh W. Goodwin, the Finance 
Committee, we.r e given the power to me rtgage Special School District #15 property to 
finance cons truction. 

June 6, 1904, the mot ion that "a suitable brick building for all white public 
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school purposes" be erected " ... beginning as early the next spring as practicable'.' ..• 
passed. The building cornrriittee were Dr. J. M. Sheppard, B. W. Reeves, and C. P. McHenry. 
Reverend J. F. McKinzie, Presbyterian minister and brick mason, and Dr. W. J. Anson 
were selected as consultants. Reverend McKinzie worked in the building as a mason and 
contributed to its design. The general contractor, J. F. Hanson, from Camden, Arkansas, 
utilized brick from the El Dorado brickyard and local southern Pine to complete con­
struction in 1905. The school's cost was met by a $40,000 bond issue to the Mercantile 
Trust Company of St. Louis. 

In April 1909, the Ouachita Presbyterial Coeducational College made arrangements 
to use some of the building space for a proposed college. Efforts to mak e the college 
a going concern failed. By May 1911, the building had been wired for electrical 
lighting and indoor plumbing installed. 

In 1925, the El Dorado Junior College wa s founded. The colle_ge continued for 
"elve years and matriculated many graduates from its liberal arts curriculum.. The 

;ollege was _NEA accredited until its demise in 1937. 

The Junior College building was used as part of the High School p lant until 1964 
when a new high school was constructed. The building continued to be used as a Junior 
High School until the 1970's when the Junior High School was moved. Presently, the 
structure is rented by Southern State College for Extension courses. 
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The revised resource count for the El Dorado Junior College Building nomination is: 
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SUMMARY 

Union County, Arkansas 

County and State 

The El Dorado High School Gym is located on the West Campus of South Arkansas Community College in 
El Dorado, Union County, Arkansas, and is located immediately adjacent to the El Dorado Junior College 
Building. The El Dorado Junior College Building was listed in the National Register of Historic Places on 
September 13, 1978, and the associated Gymnasium is being amended to the Junior College Building 
nomination. The Gym is located a short distance from downtown in a neighborhood of mixed residential and 
commercial development. It is a red-faced brick and concrete structure designed by John B. Abbott in the 
Art Deco style, and built in 1940 by the Works Progress Administration (WP A). A large barrel vaulted roof 
with a long eyebrow on each side crowns the building. The interior of the building consists of the large 
gymnasium space on the main floor with basement space in the four quadrants of the gym. 

LABO RATION 
he El Dorado High School Gym is located in a mixed-use residential and commercial neighborhood just 

outside of downtown El Dorado. It is located on .the West Campus of South Arkansas Community College. 
The building was built in 1940 by the WPA, and was designed by John B. Abbott. It is one of the best 
examples of the Art Deco style in El Dorado. 

The Gym is built of concrete and red-faced brick, with a cast concrete foundation. A large barrel vaulted 
roof with a long eyebrow on each side is on top of the building. Today, the building is virtually unaltered, 
and still used for recreational and educational activities by South Arkansas Community College. 

West Fa-;ade 
The west fas;ade, like the east fa9ade, is one of the building's main fa9ades. In the center of the fa<;ade is the 
main entrance, which has two, glass-panel doors with a single pane glass transom above. A brick pier with 
concrete cap is on each side of the entrance and a cast-concrete awning with three horizontal bands is above 
the entrance. Above the pier on the right side of the entrance is a concrete cornerstone that reads 
"USN1940/WPA." The text is surrounded by a shield design. A window of thirty-six glass blocks is 
located above the entrance, and a recessed row of soldier bricks acts as the lintel. A decorative plaque, which 
used to have the name of the building on it, flanked on each side by two sloped concrete blocks is located in 
a parapet above the window. An area of concrete with an incised serrated design tops the parapet. 

The central entrance is flanked on each side by three bays separated by brick pilasters with sloped concrete 
ps. The bays immediately adjacent to the entrance have a six-pane window with concrete sill and a row of 
ldier bricks for a lintel at the level of the entrance awning. At the level of the entrance bay's glass block 

window, an eight-pane window with concrete sill is present. These bays are also narrower than the outer two 
bays. 
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The next bay out from the central entrance has two, nine-pane windows on the lower level with concrete sills 
and a row of soldier bricks for lintels. However, the windows towards the center of the building are now 
covered over. (All of the windows on the building that are covered have been covered since 1977.) On the 
upper level of the fac;ade is a band of windows with a concrete sill comprised of a central eight-pane section 
flanked on each side by a six-pane section. Although these windows are covered on the exterior, they are 
visible on the interior of the building. 

The outermost bays of the fa;:ade have two covered over windows with concrete sills and rows of soldier 
bricks for lintels that are the same size as the lower level windows in the adjacent bays. The upper level of 
the fa;:ade is a band of windows with a concrete sill comprised of a central eight-pane section flanked on 
--qch side by a six-pane section. Again, although these windows are covered on the exterior, they are visible 

the interior of the building. 

At the comers of the building are large brick pilasters that extend above the roofline of the building. At the 
top of each pilaster, in the center, is a I-shaped concrete block with an incised serrated design running down 
the center flanked on each side by an incised cane shape. The top of the pilaster is capped by an area of 
concrete with an incised serrated design like that on top of the central parapet. 

Towards the top of the barrel vaulted roof is a long clerestory with a very shallow shed roof. The entire 
length of the clerestory has two rows of panes of glass. Although all of the panes are visible on the interior 
of the building, only two ten-pane sections, one towards each end, are visible on the exterior. 

North Fac;ade 
The north fa<;:ade of the building is divided into seven bays by brick pilasters with sloped concrete caps. The 
pilasters towards the center of the fac;ade are taller than those towards the ends, which mimics the parabolic 
top of the fac;ade. The top of the fac;ade is capped with concrete. 

The center three bays of the fac;ade have windows towards the top of the fac;ade that are comprised of eighty­
one glass blocks. The brickwork below the windows is done in a stack bond as opposed to running bond 
used for the brickwork on the rest of the building. Also, each window has a row of soldier bricks for the 
lintel. In addition, the center bay has an eight-pane window with a concrete sill and a row of soldier bricks 
for the lintel. It is located above the glass block window. Although it is covered up on the exterior it is 

·ible on the interior of the building. 

The two end bays of the fac;ade each have a casement window towards the bottom of the wall with a concrete 
sill and a row of soldier bricks for the lintel. Each sash in the window has six panes of glass. Above those 
are the former locations of windows that also have concrete sills and a row of soldier bricks for the lintels. 
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Although the pane arrangement is unknown, they are similar in size to the lower windows on the east and 
west fa9ades. 

At each end of the fa9ade, the large pilasters from the main fa9ades wrap around. Like the pilasters on the 
north and south fa9ades, at the top of each pilaster, in the center, is a I-shaped concrete block with an incised 
serrated design running down the center flanked on each side by an incised cane shape. The top of the 
pilaster is capped by a row of concrete blocks with an incised serrated design like those on top of the central 
parapet. 

East Fa~ade 
"'he east fa9ade is identical to the west fa9ade. 

South Fa~ade 
The south fa9ade is identical to the north fa9ade . 

Interior 
According to the architect, Mr. John B. Abbott, the El Dorado High School Gym was the first structure in the 
state of Arkansas to use laminated wood arched beams. The five, three-hinged arches, sixteen feet apart, 
span the inner roofline and represent a unique design. An advertisement for McKeown Brothers Company in 
Chicago indicates that the arches have a 100-foot span. The arches are hinged once in the middle and once 
on each side and bolted, and provide both horizontal and vertical support. According to Mr. Abbott, the 
building has deep footings with extra doglegs in order to support the extreme weight of the bleachers, which 
are formed from solid concrete. 

The hinged arches were constructed of selected structural fir and of glued, laminated construction, stained 
with Pittsburgh dark oak and varnished with a clear varnish. The gym floor was constructed of Grade 
Northern hard maple in accordance with grading rules of the Maple Flooring Manufacturers Association. 
The floors , built with two-by-fours anchored to concrete and covered with sub flooring, feature solid maple 
finished flooring. To facilitate air circulation under the floor, vents were constructed at the base of the 
bleachers. The bleachers also form the primary anchor for the structure. Four basement quadrants were built 
for use as basketball showers and dressing rooms. 

tegrity 
Although there have been some minor alterations, the Gym has retained its original fa9ade over the years, 
both in the interior and exterior. Some of the original features have been removed or covered up, but for the 
most part, it appears today much as it did at the time of the grand opening in 1940. Exterior alterations 
include the installation of heating and air conditioning systems at an unknown date. In addition, there have 
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been alterations to the interior of the building. In order to upgrade the mechanical systems windows that 
have been closed to assist with heating and cooling costs and conduits surface-mounted on the concrete 
walls. Also, vents, which originally provided circulation at the base of the bleachers, have been covered. 
Cosmetic modifications to the interior include painting white the original varnished and stained wood 
laminated ceiling beams and ceiling, painting the walls, adding fluorescent lights, and modernizing the goals 
and scoreboard. The dates of interior alterations are unknown. Although there have been alterations to the 
building, the majority of them have been minor. As a result, the Gym is still able to convey many of the 
qualities that it had when it was first built. 
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The El Dorado Junior College Building was listed in the National Register of Historic Places on September 
13, 1978. At the time, the associated Gymnasium, which was built in 1940 by the WPA, was not yet 50 years 
old, and was ineligible for listing as a contributing resource. The El Dorado Junior College Building was 
listed in the National Register under Criteria A and C, with local significance in the areas of Architecture, 
and Education with a 1900-1938 period of significance. 

Due to the passage of time, the El Dorado High School Gym is now over 50 years old and contributes to the 
significance of the El Dorado Junior College complex. As a result, the Arkansas Historic Preservation 
Program seeks to amend the nomination to include the Gym, add the area of significance . 
Politics/Government for its associations with the work of the WP A under the New Deal, and to change the 

iriod of significance to 1900-1952. 

SUMMARY 
The El Dorado High School Gym is being nominated to the National Register of Historic Places with local 
significance under Criterion C as an excellent example of the Art Deco style of architecture. In addition, it 
is the largest extant example of Art Deco architecture in downtown El Dorado, and possibly the only building 
in El Dorado built by the WP A. The El Dorado High School Gym is also being nominated to the National 
Register of Historic Places with local significance under Criterion A for its associations with the activities 
of the WPA under the New Deal, and for its associations with education in El Dorado. 

ELABORATION 
The city of El Dorado is rich in history and culture. The revitalized downtown illustrates the community' s 
interest in historic preservation and redevelopment. The renovation of the El Dorado area has primarily built 
upon the "boom town" days of the 1920' s, when the discovery of crude oil altered South Arkansas forever. 
The West Campus of South Arkans~s Community College, an historical site for educational institutions in El 
Dorado, is located just five blocks from the elegant town square. With the 1905 El Dorado Junior College 
Building, which was listed in the National Register of Historic Places on September 13, 1978 (also known as 
the SouthArk Administration Building), now refurbished, school officials are focusing attention on the El 
Dorado High School Gym as a means of restoring the other significant piece of history that is located on 
campus. 

'le El Dorado High School Gym is located on the former Newton Estate, and has served as an educational 
orts facility since it was built. The Newton Estate is a site that has been used for public education since 

1858. This property was purchased by Albert Rust on January 5, 1858 for $3,000 and a $520.83 mortgage on 
a slave girl named Alcey, age 17. On May 7, 1858, Rust sold five acres to the Trustees of the El Dorado 
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Female Institute for $250. The land carried a stipulation that it be used for a Female Academy. This 
Academy was started by Reverend Lacy, a local Presbyterian minister and his wife, who was the first 
instructor. Reverend Lacy was succeeded in his posts as a theologian and educator by Reverend A.R. Bank, 
who with his wife had been running academies for males and females in Minden, Louisiana. During the 
Civil War the structure of the Female Institute, a two story, eight room, frame structure with a long assembly 
hall in the rear of the building, was used as a hospital for Confederate soldiers and a monument has been 
raised on the eastern boundary by the daughters of the Confederacy. On October 12, 1895, the El Dorado 
Special School District #15 was formed from Common School District #13. 

In June of 1896, the first class graduated from the El Dorado High School. The growing number of students 
~equired more and better education facilities . As early as June 20, 1903, the school board agreed to finance 

nstruction of a new structure to be used as an all white public school. In June 1909, the Ouachita 
resbyterian Coeducation College made arrangements to use some of the building space for a proposed 

college. It took eleven more years, until 1925, for the El Dorado Junior College to be founded. The Junior 
College building was used as part of the High School plant until 1964 when a new High School was 
constructed in another section of town. The building continued to be used as a junior high school until the . 
1970's when the Junior High School was moved. Presently, this structure functions as the Administration 
Building for South Arkansas Community College. 

The El Dorado High School Gymnasium was constructed by the WP A in 1940. The architect who designed 
the building, Mr. John B. Abbott, still resides in El Dorado today. Mr. Abbott was an independent architect 
when the WP A program was initiated. Today, nearing the age of 90, he remains active in his retirement, and 
serves with distinction on the College's Restoration Committee. 

Work began in 1939, and the WPA project construction lasted nine months. The original sponsor for the 
project was the El Dorado School District. Unskilled laborers were recruited to perform the work and were 
paid between 30 and 50 cents per hour. There was little interest in acquiring mechanical assistance because 
the purpose of the program was to provide work to as many individuals as possible. The bricks were 
manufactured by the Acme Brick Company in Malvern, Arkansas. The total cost of the construction was 
$48,241. Of special note in the construction design are the five, three-hinged arches visible inside the gym. 
The arches are hinged once in the middle and once on each end. Their unique construction, made with 
laminated wood, span the inner roofline to form the primary support for the ceiling. Mr. Abbott has reported 

at this gym was the first structure in Arkansas to use laminated wood arches in the design of the building. 
o impressive were these laminated beams that the McKeown Brothers Company in Chicago featured a 

photo of the gym in one of their advertisements/sales catalogs of the day. 
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When the facility opened in 1940, citizens who recall the event note that the gym soon became the hub of 
activity, serving as the host facility for not only education-related sporting competitions, but also for such 
visitors as Goose Tatum and the Harlem Globetrotters. For the most of its years of existence, the gym has 
been home to local sports teams at the secondary and post-secondary levels. 

In 1975, Southern Arkansas University (formerly Southern State College) purchased the property and 
established Southern Arkansas University-El Dorado Branch the following year. In 1991, South Arkansas 
Community College was created as a result of the merging of the Branch and the independent Oil Belt 
Vocational-Technical School in El Dorado. 
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From a point on the south side of Block Street 165 feet west of the intersection with South West Avenue, 
proceed southerly 250 feet, then proceed westerly 125 feet, then proceed northerly 250 feet, then proceed 
easterly 125 feet along Block Street to the point of beginning, all located within Block 17, Lot 2 within the 
City of El Dorado, Union County, Arkansas. 

Boundary Justification 
This boundary includes the entire parcel ofland historically associated with the El Dorado Junior College 
Building and the associated El Dorado High School Gym. 


